IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT	
CASE NUMBER 2007-KA-2221-COA	
DESMOND KEYS	
Appellant	
vs.	
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	
Appellee	
APPELLANT'S BRIEF	·×.

LESLIE ROUSSELL, ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT, DESMOND KEYS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the \(\) following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Mr. Desmond Keys - Appellant

District Attorney, Anthony Buckley - The States trial attorney.

Judge Billy Joe Landrum - Trial Judge.

Vivian Tucker - Mother of the deceased, witness for the State.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF THE CASE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO

 ALLOW THE JURY TO BE INSTRUCTED ON THE CRIME OF CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE

 MANSLAUGHTER
- III. DR STEVEN HAYNE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO TESTIFY IN THE
 AREA OF TERMINAL BALLISTICS AS THERE IS NO EVIDENCE HE HAS ANY
 EXPERTISE IN THAT AREA; AND HIS TESTIMONY AS TO MANNER AND CAUSE OF
 DEATH SHOULD BE EXCLUDED AS HE IS NOT PROPERLY CERTIFIED BY THE
 AMERICAN BOARD OF PATHOLOGY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about July 27, 2006, Maryianna Tucker was lying in her bed inside her apartment at the Lone Oaks Apartments in Laurel, Mississippi. Gunshots were fired and one bullet went through her body causing her death (R. 51-53, 229).

According to witnesses, there was an earlier altercation between Desmond Keys and Maryianna's father, William Tucker (R. 195, 199, 214). It is alleged that once the fight was over, Desmond Keys left the scene, returned with a gun and began shooting into the Tucker apartment. It was a shot fired by Desmond Keys which the state contends killed Maryianna Tucker.

The State found .38 caliber projectiles (usually fired from a hand gun) as well as .30 caliber projectiles (which are usually "high velocity" and fired from a semi automatic weapon (R. 73-76; 129; 143-146)). Dr. Steven Hayne testifying as an expert in the field of terminal ballistics, testified that he believed it most likely that Maryianna was killed by a "high velocity" bullet more consistent with the .30 caliber bullet. However, when asked if Maryianna's death was caused by the .38 caliber bullet he could not say yes or no (R. 232-234). Further, Dr. Hayne testified as to cause and manner of death even though he is not certified in Forensic Pathology by the American Board of Pathology.

All of the lay witnesses in this case claim to have seen Desmond Keys with a long rifle/semi automatic type gun. Two witnesses also stated that Desmond Keys had a second hand gun, but noone testified that they saw him shoot a handgun. Also interesting is that none of the other witnesses saw a handgun, and one witness even testified that she just "came up" with the second gun story a couple of hours before walking into the courtroom to testify (R. 159).

Most of the lay witnesses did testify that Desmond Keys shot into the Tucker apartment. However there was absolutely no testimony that Desmond Keys knew anyone was at home or that he saw anyone inside, nor that Desmond Keys intended in any way to harm anyone. Desmond Keys requested a Culpable Negligence manslaughter instruction and a heat of passion manslaughter instruction (R. 252-255; 258), both represented alternative theories of defense which there was evidence to support. The Court refused the defendant's instructions and the defendant was found guilty of murder and sentenced to life imprisonment (R. 256-261; 284-285). The Jury was not even allowed to consider the Defendant's theory of the case.

The events that took place on July 27, 2006, lead to the tragic loss of life of a five year old girl. However, that tragedy cannot relieve this Court of its duty to ensure that her accused receives a constitutionally fair trial. He did not.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case can be summed up very briefly. After a jury deliberated for a mere twenty minutes, Desmond Keys was convicted of murder. The trial court allowed his case to go to the Jury without any instruction on the defendant's two theories of the case, culpable negligence manslaughter and heat of passion manslaughter. You simply cannot prohibit a citizen of the United States of America a constitutionally fair trial by refusing to allow the Jury to consider his defense.

The testimony from the State's witnesses clearly establish that there was a fight between Desmond Keys and William Tucker (R. 195; 199; 214). Physical blows were exchanged in that fight (R. 214). At some point after the fight other witnesses claim that Desmond Keys came back with a gun. Noone testified whether that was 10 seconds after the fight or 10 hours. We simply do not know what period of time had passed and whether or not Desmond keys had time to "cool". Desmond Keys was entitled to have the jury determine whether or not Desmond Keys acted in the heat of passion. Desmond Keys requested a jury instruction which would have informed the jury of that theory of defense (R. 258-260). The Judge refused it stating that, "if he was in a rage and he had time to go get a gun and come back, he should have had time to deal with his rage where he wouldn't come back" (R. 258; 260). The Judge simply invaded the fact finding province of the jury and substituted his personal opinions and findings of fact for those of the jury. The Judge overstepped his authority and committed reversible error.

Further, the State's witnesses claim that Desmond keys was shooting into an apartment. It is certainly reasonable from all of the evidence presented for someone to conclude there was no proof that Desmond Keys knew anyone was

Excerpts at 12). The law is clear that the difference between manslaughter by culpable negligence and depraved heart murder concerns the degree of mental culpability. *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.1992). The determination of a defendant's mental culpability is an issue properly resolved by the jury. *Morris v. State*, 748 So.2d 143, 148 (Miss.1999). These two cases state that the degree of culpability in a case such as this is a question for a jury. Shumpert v. State 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss.,2006). The Defendant requested a culpable negligence manslaughter jury instruction and the Court again refused the instruction and substituted its own opinions for those of the jury by saying, "this is probably as a cold case of depraved heart as I've seen" (R. 252-255; 259). The Court again invaded the fact finding province of the jury and committed reversible error.

Finally, Dr. Steven Hayne was submitted as an expert in the fields of Forensic Pathology and Terminal Ballistics (R. 223-224). There was no testimony as to any education that Dr. Hayne has in terminal ballistics, however he testified that the bullet that killed Maryianna was a high velocity bullet (like the .30 caliber) instead of a slower bullet (like the .38) (R. 232-234). He was simply not qualified to make this type of testimony, and if he was then the proper foundation to establish that expertise was not laid. Also, Dr. Hayne is not Board certified in Forensic Pathology which Mississippi State Law requires in order to be the State Medical Examiner. The fact that Dr, Hayne is not and has never been board certified by the American Board of Pathology should disqualify him and any testimony he gives about the cause and manner of death in any trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO ALLOW THE JURY TO BE INSTRUCTED ON THE DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF THE CASE. .

The law in this area is very well settled. A trial Court should "instruct the jury as to the theories and grounds of defense, justification, or excuse supported by the evidence, and a failure to do so is error requiring reversal of a judgment of conviction." *Hester v. State*, 602 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1992) *citing O'Bryant v. State*, 530 So.2d 129, 133 (miss. 1988). If the Defendant's offered jury instruction properly states the law, has a basis in the evidence, and is the only instruction giving his theory of the case to the jury, a court's refusal to grant it is reversible error. *Murphy v. State*, 566 So.2d 1201, 1207 (Miss. 1990). "Even though based on meager evidence and highly unlikely, a defendant is entitled to have every legal defense he asserts to be submitted as a factual issue for determination by the jury under proper instruction of the court." *Hester v. State*, at 872.

Furthermore, every accused has a fundamental right to have her theory of the case presented to a jury, even if the evidence is minimal. We have held that "[i]t is, of course, an absolute right of an accused to have every lawful defense he asserts, even though based upon meager evidence and highly unlikely, to be submitted as a factual issue to be determined by the jury under proper instruction of the court. This Court will never permit an accused to be denied this fundamental right." O'Bryant v. State, 530 So.2d 129, 133 (Miss.1988) (citing Ward v. State, 479 So.2d 713 (Miss.1985); Lancaster v. State, 472 So.2d 363 (Miss.1985); Pierce v. State, 289 So.2d 901 (Miss.1974)). This Court recently has stated that "[w]e greatly value the right of a defendant to present his theory of the case and 'where the defendant's proffered instruction has an evidentiary basis, properly states the law, and is the only instruction presenting his theory of the case, refusal to grant it constitutes reversible error.' "Phillipson v. State, 943 So.2d 670, 671-72 (Miss.2006) (citing Adams v. State, 772 So.2d 1010, 1016 (Miss.2000)).

Chinn v. State 958 So.2d 1223, 1225 (Miss.,2007). The above cases clearly show that if the proffered instruction (1) has a basis in evidence no matter how slight; and (2) is not covered by

other instructions; and (3) are proper statements of the law, then they must be given. The jury in this case was not properly instructed.

The jury instructions given in this case did fairly and accurately depict the law of the State of Mississippi with regard to depraved heart murder; however, the jury was not instructed regarding the defendant's theories of the case. The Defendant's theory was that even if everything the prosecution said was true, he could only be guilty of either culpable negligence manslaughter or heat of passion manslaughter. Jury instructions defining those concepts were submitted by the Defendant.

Mississippi defines depraved heart murder as:

The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder when done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual;

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(b).

Mississippi defines culpable negligence manslaughter as:

Every other killing of a human being, by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, and without authority of law, not provided for in this title, shall be manslaughter.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-47.

Mississippi defines heat of passion manslaughter as:

The killing of a human being, without malice, in the heat of passion, but in a cruel or unusual manner, or by the use of a dangerous weapon, without authority of law, and not in necessary self-defense.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-35.

The Defendant filed several proposed jury instructions regarding manslaughter all of which were denied by the Court. The Defendant filed an instruction which defined culpable negligence manslaughter to the jury (proposed jury instruction D-11, See Record Excerpts at 18); he gave one which defined heat of passion manslaughter (proposed jury instruction D-12, See Record Excerpts at 19); he submitted one which allowed the jury to consider the lesser included offense of manslaughter (proposed jury instruction D-10; See Record Excerpts at 17); and he also gave a "form of the verdict" instruction which included manslaughter (proposed jury instruction D-6; See Record Excerpts at 16).

Each of these proposed jury instructions were denied by the Court and were the only jury instructions dealing with manslaughter. There were no manslaughter instructions given to the jury by the Court. Each of these proposed instructions were proper statements of the law with regard to manslaughter, culpable negligence manslaughter and heat of passion manslaughter. Each had a basis in the evidence; heat of passion because of the witness testimony of an altercation between Mr. Keys and Mr. Tucker prior to gun shots (R. 195; 199; 214); and culpable negligence because this was not an intent to kill indictment, but was a depraved heart murder indictment. The "recognized distinction between manslaughter by culpable negligence and depraved heart murder concerns the degree of mental culpability". Windham v. State, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.1992). The determination of a defendant's mental culpability is an issue properly resolved by the jury. Morris v. State, 748 So.2d 143, 148 (Miss.1999).

(And just for completeness, the defendant objected to the Court's "form of the verdict" jury instruction (C-1) and the State's murder elements instruction (S-1) because neither contained references to manslaughter and were thus improper for failing to allow the Defendant's theory of

the case from being considered by the jury (R. 252-255)). No other offered jury instructions included any reference to culpable negligence manslaughter and/or heat of passion manslaughter. Therefore, no other jury instructions were given to the jury to instruct them on the Defendant's theory of the case. That is reversible error.

In examining this issue it is interesting to note the Statements of the trial judge when making the decision not to grant the proposed instructions to the jury. The Defendant proposed a heat of passion manslaughter instruction and the Judge refused it stating that, "Based on the evidence that's been presented, if he was in a rage and he had time to go get a gun and come back, he should have had time to deal with his rage where he wouldn't come back. If the facts are true as presented, then he should have been able to take care of that while he was out getting his gun" (See Trial Record at 258, also Record Excerpts at 36). The judge is saying the defendant should have had time to cool down from any rage. He is not allowed to make that finding. Whether or not a person has had sufficient time to cool down from rage is a question of fact not a question of law. It is always a jury issue. It is never an issue for a Judge. It is the jury that must determine whether or not an individual had time to calm himself.

Whether there has been cooling time is eminently a question of fact, varying with the particular case and with the condition of the party. There are some provocations which, with persons of even temperament, lose their power in a few moments; while there are others which rankle in the breast for days and even weeks, producing temporary insanity. Men's temperaments also vary greatly as to the duration of hot blood; and it must be remembered that we must determine the questions of malice in each case, not by the standard of an ideal 'reasonable man,' but by that of the party to whom the malice is imputed."

Wharton's Criminal Law (10th Ed.) vol. 1, par. 480.

The question in all cases similar to the case at bar is one of fact for the jury. The mere fact that the killing was intentional *132 is not the test.

Haley v. State 85 So. 129, 131 -132 (Miss. 1920)

The Defendant argued that the Court's form of the verdict jury instruction should not be given because it did not contain a culpable negligence manslaughter choice (R. 252-255). The Defendant argued that the only difference between depraved heart murder and culpable negligence manslaughter was degree and that degree is always a jury issue.

Depraved-heart murder and culpable-negligence manslaughter are distinguishable simply by degree of mental state of culpability. In short, depraved—heart murder involves a higher degree of recklessness from which malice or deliberate design may be implied

Windham v. State, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.,1992). This case stands for the proposition that a fact finder must determine if the conduct complained of by the State rises to the level of malice aforethought, i.e., deprayed heart murder, or whether the conduct complained of fails to reach that level and is thereby culpable negligence which is only manslaughter. One cannot simply say that this act is so terrible that it must be murder and not manslaughter. That is why 12 men and women decide these things. Judges cannot simply base these decisions on their personal beliefs and morals. The jury represents the collective feelings and beliefs of society and it is the collectives responsibility to make these judgment calls and findings of fact, not the man or woman wearing the robe.

The trial Judge overruled the Defendant's objection to the State's jury instruction and subsequently denied the Defendant's proposed jury instruction on culpable negligence manslaughter stating, "Well, I think this is one of those occasions where this act that was committed here, based on the facts that's been presented, that the Court doesn't have to worry about abundance of care. I think this exemplifies, if the facts are true and the jury has to decide that they are, that this is probably as a cold case of depraved heart as I've seen. So I'm going to give the instruction as it is written. C-2 will be given" (R. 256). The trial Court committed

error.

II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO ALLOW THE JURY TO BE INSTRUCTED ON THE CRIME OF CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER.

Although this issue is covered above, that argument is more about properly instructing a jury on Defendant's theory of the case than it is a direct discussion of the reasons why this Defendant was entitled to a Culpable Negligence jury instruction. Therefore I attempt to do that more thoroughly here.

Depraved-heart murder and culpable-negligence manslaughter are distinguishable simply by degree of mental state of culpability. In short, depraved-heart murder involves a higher degree of recklessness from which malice or deliberate design may be implied. *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.,1992). In this case many witnesses testified that they saw Desmond Keys firing a gun at the Tucker apartment. The jury then determines if they believe that testimony. If they do, then they must determine whether that conduct rises to a level high enough to be considered depraved heart murder or whether it does not rise to that level and is conversely culpable negligence manslaughter. Had they been properly instructed on the law, the jury would have deliberated on that issue and reached a decision.

Culpable negligence manslaughter is a lesser included offense of depraved heart murder.

A lesser-included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge and ultimately this Court can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused and considering all the reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser-included offense (conversely, not guilty of at least one element of the principal charge).

McGowan v. State, 541 So.2d 1027, 1028 (Miss. 1989).

"[c]ulpable negligence must be ascertained from the facts of each case, and no ironclad statement can be set forth as applicable to all classes of cases." Sims v. State, 149 Miss. 171, 115 So. 217, 219 (1928).

Shumpert v. State 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss., 2006)

This Mississippi Supreme Court quote proves that culpable negligence vs. simple negligence vs. depraved heart type negligence is always a jury question. This Court made that distinction as early as 1928 in the above cited <u>Sims</u> case. But perhaps the most definitive case is <u>Shumpert</u> when the Court specifically said that the determination between culpable negligence manslaughter and depraved heart murder is ALWAYS a jury question. The Court said:

Furthermore, a recognized distinction between manslaughter by culpable negligence and depraved heart murder concerns the degree of mental culpability. Windham v. State, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.1992). The determination of a defendant's mental culpability is an issue properly resolved by the jury. Morris v. State, 748 So.2d 143, 148 (Miss.1999).

Shumpert v. State 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss., 2006).

In this case, however, that issue was resolved by the Judge. Reversible error was committed.

III. DR STEVEN HAYNE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO TESTIFY IN THE AREA OF TERMINAL BALLISTICS AS THERE IS NO EVIDENCE HE HAS ANY EXPERTISE IN THAT AREA; AND HIS TESTIMONY AS TO MANNER AND CAUSE OF DEATH SHOULD BE EXCLUDED AS HE IS NOT PROPERLY CERTIFIED BY THE AMERICAN BOARD OF PATHOLOGY.

The State of Mississippi is very familiar with Dr. Steven Hayne. He is the man that pretty much testifies in every case in the State of Mississippi as to the manner and cause of death. Dr. Hayne was qualified in this case as an expert in forensic pathology and ultimately testified as to

the cause and manner of death of Maryianna Tucker (R. 222-224).

It appears that serious questions have since arisen about Dr. Hayne's qualifications to testify as an expert witness and whether he is even properly licensed by the American Board of Pathology. State law requires the State medical examiner to be board certified by the American Board of Pathology (See Miss. Code Ann. § 41-61-55). I think this Court can take judicial notice that Dr. Hayne is not. He no longer testifies that he is "Board Certified".

In fact, I believe the Court can also take judicial notice that Public Safety Commissioner has removed Dr. Hayne from the list of approved pathologists. The main reason for this is likely the great amount of autopsies that Dr. Hayne claims to perform. Dr. Hayne claimed at trail, that he had been in the medical examiner's office for the State of Mississippi for some 20 years (R. 222), and that he had performed approximately 35,000 autopsies (R. 223). Using simple math that means Dr. Hayne has averaged approximately 1750 autopsies per year; that is 4.8 autopsies per day every single day of the year for 20 years with no days off. (The National Association of Medical Examiners limits the number of autopsies that a certified medical examiner can do to 250 per year; after 325 the organization will no longer certify the examiners practice). (See Accreditation requirements of the National Association of Medical Examiners).

Another problem with Dr. Hayne in this case is that he was offered as an expert witness in the field of terminal ballistics without any voir dire from either side as to what his training and expertise was with regard to terminal ballistics. The District Attorney simply asked had he ever testified as an expert in that capacity before. Dr. Hayne then testified that he believed that the bullet that killed Maryianna Tucker had to be a high velocity bullet like the one that the State argued killed Maryianna. Dr. Hayne basically ruled out the possibility that a .38 (or slower

velocity) bullet could have killed Maryianna. Because he is an "expert" the jury is more likely to just accept anything he says.

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