IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DESMOND KEYS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-2221

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING INSTRUCTIONS ON HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER AND CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER
- 2. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT; THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING INSTRUCTIONS ON HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER AND CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER¹

The Appellant sought an instruction on culpable negligence manslaughter and heat of passion manslaughter. Both were refused by the trial court, it finding, in effect, that there was no evidence to support those instructions.

As to the culpable negligence instruction, the prosecutor pointed out to the trial court that the evidence showed that the Appellant pulled the trigger of his gun a minimum of thirty - two times and perhaps as many as forty - two times. It was the prosecutor's view, one with which we agree, that the sheer number of shots fired toward or into the Tucker home completely negated any notion that the shooting might have been culpably negligent. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 252 - 253). The Appellant, it will be recalled, did not testify, and there was no evidence presented by the defense to support a theory of culpable negligence manslaughter. On the other hand, besides the ample testimony concerning the Appellant's action in shooting up the home, he told one person after the shooting that he had "got every thing under control." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 238). His actions and statement are wholly against any notion that he was culpably negligent. One discharge from a

¹ We will respond to the Appellant's First and Second Assignments of Error in this response.

firearm might, in certain circumstances, be characterized as culpably negligent, but the firing of this many shots cannot possibly be thought to have been the consequence of any kind of negligence.

It is difficult indeed to imagine how this case could possibly be characterized as a possible culpable negligence case. There was not a single item of evidence or testimony to suggest it. Certainly the Appellant does not cite any. While it may be that an accused has the right to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case, that rule of law presumes that there is evidence to support such instructions. *Bright v. State*, 986 So.2d 1042 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Here there was no such evidence and no reasonable jury could have found the Appellant not guilty on the charge of the indictment, yet guilty of culpable negligence manslaughter. Consequently, the trial court committed no error in refusing a culpable negligence manslaughter instruction.

The Appellant then notes that the distinction between depraved heart murder and culpable negligence manslaughter is that depraved heart murder involves a higher degree of recklessness from which malice aforethought may be implied, citing *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1992). Perhaps this is so, but the point avails the Appellant nothing. An unjustified act of shooting into an occupied house, which results in the death of one of the occupants, is a familiar example of depraved heart murder. *Windham*, at 802. Again, in the case at bar, the Appellant did not fire one shot into the house. He did not present evidence that what he did was a negligent act. What the Appellant did was fire into the house at least thirty - two times.

In Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d 355 (Miss. 2006), the evidence was that the accused in that case deliberately carried a gun with him and deliberately fired three shots, killing the victim. The Court held that the trial court in that case correctly refused a culpable negligence

manslaughter instruction, there being no evidence in support of one. The same result should obtain here. The Appellant left the area, went to get two guns, returned, and opened fire. The placement of his shots clearly showed that he was aiming his shots. His actions were deliberate, not culpably negligent.

Nor was there evidence to support a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. It may be that the Appellant became upset because Tucker did not take his boasts of being a big shot seriously, but this was no provocation within the meaning of the heat of passion form of manslaughter. The record indicates that the Appellant was the one who became upset. He was the one who provoked a difficulty with Tucker, simply because of Tucker's word to the effect that he did not believe that the Appellant was what he claimed to be.

In *Alford v. State*, No. 2007-KA-OO241-COA (Miss. Ct. App., Decided 26 August 2008, Not Yet Officially Reported), the Court defined this form of manslaughter:

Heat of passion" has been defined as "[a] state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given.... Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror" and "would produce in the minds of ordinary men 'the highest degree of exasperation.' *Phillips v. State*, 794 So.2d 1034, 1037 (¶¶ 9-10) (Miss.2001) (citations omitted). Importantly, words alone, even if provocative, or disagreements between people are insufficient to satisfy the "heat of passion" requirement and, thus, "reduce an intentional and unjustifiable homicide from murder to manslaughter." *Id.* at (¶ 10) (quoting *Gates v. State*, 484 So.2d 1002, 1005 (Miss.1986)).

Alford, at 5.

The Appellant may have been annoyed, perhaps highly annoyed, that he was not taken seriously. But, if so, this state of affairs resulted solely from Tucker's verbal response to the Appellant's boasting. Nothing Tucker said could have reasonably been seen as sufficient to cause a violent or uncontrollable rage. In any event, as we have pointed out, mere words are

insufficient, in contemplation of law, to reduce murder to manslaughter.

There was testimony that the Appellant and Tucker got into a "scuffle", after Tucker remonstrated with the Appellant about the language he was using. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 199).

However, it has been held that evidence of a minor physical altercation such as a "scuffle" is, of itself, an insufficient evidentiary basis to require the granting of a manslaughter instruction.

Cooper v. State, 977 So.2d 1220 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The Appellant was not in an uncontrollable rage. He had the presence of mind to leave the scene of the argument, arm himself, return, and then begin firing at the Tucker residence, taking care to place his shots.

After he finished firing, he showed no sign of anger. There was simply no evidence that the Appellant was in a state of violent and uncontrollable rage.

Nor did the killing occur immediately at the time of any provocation. The Appellant left the scene to arm himself, telling Tucker he would be back. Tucker and his friend left the scene. When the Appellant returned, he opened fire on the residence, not upon Tucker.

The Appellant apparently engaged in two separate shootings on the night he killed the child. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 172; 181)

The Appellant notes that the trial court found that since the had the time to go and arm himself and return to the scene of the argument, he had the time to reflect upon his actions.

However, the Appellant claims that the jury should have been given the task of determining whether there was a sufficient "cooling off" period, and he cites *Haley v. State*, 123 Miss. 87, 85 So. 129 (1920) in support of his argument.

The Appellant's argument fails to take into consideration that Tucker's words to the Appellant did not constitute a provocation for purposes of the heat of passion form of manslaughter. In *Booze v. State*, 942 So.2d 272 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), the appellant in that case

was insulted by the decedent. The insults there, arguably, were more provocative than anything Tucker said in the case at bar. Booze thereupon went to his car, retrieved a gun and then shot the person who insulted him some eight times.

Booze asserted that he should have been granted a manslaughter instruction. This Court, however, held that mere words may never constitute a sufficient provocation. It also noted that several minutes passed between the time of the insults and Booze's act of killing the decedent.

Booze is analogous here.

Haley, supra, does hold that it is for the jury to determine whether there was a sufficient "cooling off" period in which an accused in a homicide case had time for his passion to subside. But that rule is not applicable here in view of the fact that there was never a sufficient provocation in the case at bar. In Haley the Court found that there was a sufficient provocation: Haley had been told by his wife that she had been unfaithful to him. It then turned to the question of whether the passion aroused by that provocation had spent its force by the time the homicide occurred. In contrast, the issue in the case at bar is not simply whether the Appellant had a sufficient period of time to "cool off"; it is more fundamentally whether he had been provoked. He was not, at least not within the meaning of heat of passion manslaughter, as Booze illustrates.

The trial court did not clearly give this reason for its reason in refusing the heat of passion manslaughter instruction. It refused it because there was time between the alleged provocation and the shooting which would have permitted the Appellant to "cool off", as in *Booze*. We submit, though, that in addition to the trial court's reason, there was no sufficient provocation made by Tucker.

The First and Second Assignments of Error are without merit.

2. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT; THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT

In the Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the forensic pathologist who testified in the case at bar should not have been permitted to testify, this being because he was not qualified to testify as a forensic pathologist and because he was not certified by the American Board of Pathology. The Appellant also complains that the pathologist was not qualified to give an opinion that the victim was killed by a high velocity bullet.

The Appellant admits that there were no objections made in the course of trial on these points. That being so, the Third Assignment of Error is not before the Court. Nor may these issues be resurrected under a theory of "plain error". *Dixon v. State*, 953 So.2d 1108, 1116 (Miss. 2007).

Assuming for argument that the Third Assignment of Error is before the Court, there is no merit in it.

The forensic pathologist who testified in the case at bar, Dr. Steven Hayne, has been qualified as a forensic pathologist and been permitted to testify as such in many, many criminal cases in this State. This Court has held that Dr. Hayne is "unquestionably" qualified to testify in the field of forensic pathology in the courts of this State. *Duplantis v. State*, 708 So.2d 1327, 1329 (Miss. 1998).

Dr. Hayne may not be certified by the American Board of Pathology, but, on the other hand, Dr. Hayne did not testify that he was the State's Medical Examiner. Only the State Medical Examiner is required to have such a certification. Miss. Code Section 41-61-55 (Rev. 2005). Pathologists appointed or employed under the supervision of the Commissioner of Public Safety are not required to have that certification. Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-61-77(3) (Rev.

2005). The very most that might be said of Dr. Hayne's lack of such certification, then, is that it was a matter for the jury to consider in weighing the worth and weight of his testimony.

The Appellant makes much of the number of autopsies performed by Dr. Hayne. He did not do so at trial. But again, whether Dr. Hayne could reliably perform such a number of autopsies was a matter for the jury to consider.

The Appellant claims that Dr. Hayne was impermissibly allowed to testify the field of terminal ballistics. It is said that the State failed to lay a predicate for such testimony from a forensic pathologist.

The Appellant did object to a question put to Hayne concerning whether the bullet that killed the victim was a high or low velocity bullet, asserting that it was "speculation" on Hayne's part. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 231). However, before the trial court ruled on the objection, the prosecutor offered to and did rephrase the question. There was no objection to the rephrased objection and Hayne answered it and several follow - up questions. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 232). Since the Appellant did not obtain a ruling on his objection, and since he did not object to the rephrased question, the issue may not be considered here. *Brown v. State*, 965 So.2d 1023, 1029 (Miss. 2007).

In any event, Hayne had previously testified that terminal ballistics is a field reserved to forensic pathology. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 223). He further stated how and why he concluded that the bullet was a high velocity bullet and that it is possible to determine the kinetic energy of a bullet. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 232 - 233). There was nothing put into evidence to put this testimony in issue. The physical facts concerning the injuries caused to the victim fully corroborated Hayne's opinion that the fatal wound was cause by a high velocity bullet. There is, then, nothing similar here to the facts in *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787 (Miss. 2007), a case, incidentally, in which a proper objection was contemporaneously entered.

The Appellant asks this Court to take judicial notice that Dr. Hayne, subsequent to the

trial in this case, was removed from the list of approved pathologists. This is not a proper subject

for judicial notice. Beyond this, the Appellant utterly fails to demonstrate any relevance of this

alleged fact to the case - at - bar. This allegation is to be ignored. Mason v. State, 440 So.2d 318

(Miss. 1983).

Finally, even if by some stretch of the imagination the Third Assignment of Error was

properly preserved in the trial court, and that the allegations made in it were to be found to have

some merit, any error in admitting Hayne's testimony would be harmless error. There is simply

no question that the child was killed by a bullet and that the Appellant fired bullets into her

home. There was ample evidence for the jury to find that the cause of death was from a bullet

wound aside from Hayne's testimony.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.